Case #: 1028920

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/22/2024 4:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_(COA No. 37557-9-III)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

## FERNANDO MARCOS GUTIERREZ,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Fernando Marcos Gutierrez, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review dated February 8, 2022, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b). A copy is attached as Appendix A. On February 22, 2024, the Court of Appeals granted in part a motion for reconsideration involving sentencing issues that are not at issue in this petition. A copy is attached as App. B.<sup>1</sup>

### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. During voir dire, the prosecution raised the specter of illegal immigration in a manner similar to what this Court condemned in *State v. Zamora*.<sup>2</sup> Echoing these comments, Juror 16 said he disliked illegal immigration, discredited anyone who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The delay between the Court of Appeals decision and ruling on reconsideration occurred due to a stay imposed pending the outcome of *State v Westwood*, 2 Wn.2d 157, 534 P.3d 1162 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022).

came to the United States illegally, and had already judged the defendants who had Mexican surnames and used Spanish interpreters in the courtroom. However, the defense exhausted their peremptory challenges and did not ask to remove this juror for cause. This Court should grant review because an apparently and admittedly biased juror served in Mr. Gutierrez's case, denying Mr. Gutierrez his right to an impartial and fundamentally fair jury trial.

2. When an aggravated first degree murder conviction rests on accomplice liability, the prosecution must prove the defendant was a major participant in the homicide. Mr.

Gutierrez was not present when a victim initiated a spontaneous struggle over gun that resulted in a person's death.

Misinterpreting this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals concluded Mr. Gutierrez's participation in an earlier part of the incident made him an accomplice to aggravated first degree murder, despite not playing a role in the homicide. This Court should grant review due to the Court of Appeals'

misapplication of the law governing accomplice liability for aggravated first degree murder.

- 3. The prosecution's case rested on whether Mr.

  Gutierrez's participation in an earlier assault constituted sufficient evidence to convict him of a homicide and shooting that occurred in another place and arose spontaneously. The court impermissibly commented on the evidence and diluted the State's burden of proof by instructing the jury that Mr.

  Gutierrez was "deemed" guilty if it found he was involved any assaultive conduct.
- 4. The prosecution may not misrepresent the law in its closing argument. The prosecutor told the jury accomplice liability requires knowingly aiding "a crime," even though the law requires the accomplice knowingly aid "the crime charged." The prosecutor's closing argument diluted its burden of proving Mr. Gutierrez was an accomplice.
- 5. The court allowed a former defense lawyer, who was a current prosecutor, to testify about prior statements made by a

co-defendant testifying for the State as part of a plea agreement, ruling this qualified as a prior consistent statement. However, a witness's prior statement is inadmissible if made after the witness had a motive to fabricate. This Court should grant review because the trial court misconstrued the rules of evidence and the Court of Appeals impermissibly sanctioned the prejudicial practice of practice of permitting a former defense attorney and current prosecutor to bolster the credibility of a witness.

## C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Gutierrez was accused of being an accomplice to a murder committed by Gustavo Tapia Rodriguez and Julio Albarran. He was tried alongside Mr. Tapia Rodriguez. Both men speak Spanish as their first language and used interpreters at trial.

## 1. Jury selection.

Mr. Gutierrez's trial occurred in 2019. The prosecutor started jury selection by asking jurors about their opinions of

immigration "going on in the country right now" and whether people think the United States has a "very good immigration policy" or is it "a terrible immigration system" that's "not working." RP 386.

After several jurors spoke of their opinions about immigration, the prosecutor similarly asked jurors to give their opinions of "the criminal justice system" and whether they felt crime was out of control or things were going well. RP 391.

Jurors connected the related topics, one noting there is a "broken immigration system, [and] we get some people that you've got to lock your doors for," and another saying "It doesn't seem to have much to do with the illegal immigration as has maybe been suggested. It's our society has just kind of come apart at the seams." RP 395, 397.

Juror 16 admitted he harbored a strong bias against people who came to the country illegally.<sup>3</sup> He admitted he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Gutierrez's supplemental brief sets forth Juror 16's comments in detail.

already judged the defendant. RP 507-08. He said he was "bothered" by the defendant's Mexican dissent. RP 507. When asked if it would influence his decision despite not knowing if the defendant came here legally, he answered, "yes," without equivocation. RP 509. He said even if immigration was not mentioned at trial, it would be in the back of his mind. RP 508. He doubted his ability to follow an instruction to set his bias aside but when pressed, said, "I'm willing to listen." *Id*.

Juror 16 served on the jury, after the defense used all peremptory challenges and without anyone moving to strike this juror. RP 685; CP 315-19.

The Court of Appeals ruled the trial court was not required to question Juror 16's bias and ruled the trial court properly deferred to counsels' failure to excuse the juror. Slip op. at 21.

#### 2. Trial evidence.

Eustolia Campuzano asked Mr. Tapia Rodriguez to scare her former boyfriend, Arturo Sosa, after Mr. Sosa broke up with

her. RP 2099, 2105, 2108. Mr. Tapia Rodriguez drove Ms. Campuzano, Mr. Gutierrez, Julio Albarran, and another person, following Mr. Sosa on his way to work. RP 2106, 2112-15. Jose Cano Barrientos was driving Mr. Sosa. RP 808-09.

Mr. Cano Barrientos pulled over because a car behind him was flashing its lights. RP 810-11. Two men approached with guns. RP 812-13, 830. At trial, Mr. Albarran said these men were Mr. Tapia Rodriguez and Mr. Gutierrez. RP 925-26. The men told Mr. Sosa and Mr. Cano Barrientos to kneel on the ground. RP 812. *Id.* Mr. Cano Barrientos thought he heard a gunshot and suspected someone fired into the ground to scare them. RP 813, 1199.

Someone said there were too many cars driving by. RP 813-14. The men put Mr. Cano Barrientos and Mr. Sosa into the back seat of Mr. Cano Barrientos' car. RP 814. Mr. Albarran drove this car with Mr. Tapia Rodriguez, who was pointing his gun at the two men as they drove. RP 817, 931. Mr.

Gutierrez was in the back seat of a different car, which was ahead of the car Mr. Albarran was driving. RP 930, 2120.

While Mr. Albarran was driving, Mr. Sosa tried to grab Mr. Tapia Rodriguez's gun. RP 817. Mr. Cano Barrientos saw Mr. Sosa struggling with Mr. Tapia Rodriguez and he grabbed Mr. Albarran's neck and tried to choke him. RP 817-18. Unable to break free of Mr. Cano Barrientos, Mr. Albarran fired a shot at him, believing he had to defend himself. RP 931-32. Mr. Tapia Rodriguez then fired several shots at Mr. Sosa. RP 819, 933.

Mr. Sosa died from Mr. Tapia Rodriguez's gunshot. RP 1156, 1179, 1205. Mr. Cano Barrientos was injured by Mr. Albarran's gunshot but survived. RP 819, 821.

After the shooting occurred, the person driving the car Mr. Gutierrez was in noticed the other car had stopped. RP 819, 934. They turned around, picked up Mr. Tapia Rodriguez and Mr. Albarran, and drove away. *Id*.

Sometime later, Mr. Albarran was arrested for an unrelated murder for which he faced life in prison. RP 945, 966-68, 1101-02. He reached an agreement to plead guilty to one count of second degree murder for the other case and to receive a sentence of 18 years, on the condition he testify for the prosecution in this case and the other murder case — in exchange, Mr. Albarran was not charged with any crimes related to this case. RP 938-39, 945-46.

Mr. Albarran testified Mr. Tapia Rodriguez told him they were going to "beat up" the men and "leave them" on the roadside. RP 916, 981. He did not believe there was a plan to shoot anyone. *Id*. Mr. Albarran agreed Mr. Gutierrez was not present for the shooting. RP 925-26.

The prosecution charged Mr. Gutierrez and Mr. Tapia

Rodriguez with aggravated murder in the first degree based on

premeditated murder occurring during kidnapping in the first

degree; first degree murder under alternatives of intentional

murder, felony murder based on assault, and murder by extreme

indifference involving Mr. Sosa's death, as well as two offenses for harm caused to Mr. Cano Barrientos: assault in the first degree and kidnapping in the first degree. CP 1-6. Each offense had a firearm sentencing enhancement. *Id*.

Over defense objection, the prosecution called Mr. Albarran's former defense attorney as a witness in its case-inchief. RP 488-95. Attorney Smitty Hagopian was now a prosecutor and he verified that Mr. Albarran told him the same information he told the prosecution. RP 1009-10, 1013.

During closing argument, the prosecution conceded Mr. Gutierrez was not present when the shooting occurred. RP 2720, 2726, 2728, 2730-31. It encouraged the jury to convict him because he aided in "a crime" and "helped with the assault." RP 2721, 2730. Mr. Gutierrez was convicted of all charges. CP 101-14.

The facts are further explained in Appellant's Opening and Supplemental Briefs, in the relevant factual and argument sections, and are incorporated herein.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. This Court should grant review to address the trial court's obligation when a juror expresses anti-immigrant racial bias during voir dire.
  - a. By permitting a racially biased juror to serve in the case, Mr. Gutierrez was denied a fundamentally fair trial.

People accused of a crime have a federal and state constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial by jury. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 192, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015); *United States v. Kechedzian*, 902 F.3d 1023, 1027 (9th Cir. 2018). "The bias or prejudice of even a single juror is enough to violate that guarantee." *Kechedzian*, 902 F.3d 1027.

A juror who cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of a party is actually biased. *Irby*, 187 Wn. App. at 194; *see* RCW 4.44.170(2); CrR 6.4(c). "A trial judge has an independent obligation to protect" the accused's right to remove a biased juror, "regardless of inaction by counsel or the defendant." *Id.* at 193.

To protect this right, the trial court should excuse a prospective juror for cause if the juror's views "would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." *State v. Pena Salvador*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 769, 784, 487 P.3d 923 (2021), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Talbott*, 200 Wn.2d 731, 744, 521 P.3d 948 (2022) (internal citations omitted).

Racial and ethnic bias "implicates unique historical, constitutional, and institutional concerns." *Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, 580 U.S. 206, 209, 137 S. Ct. 855, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017). While all forms of improper bias by jurors "pose challenges to the trial process," courts justifiably "treat racial bias with added precaution." *Id.* at 225. By ignoring concerns of racial animus expressed by a juror, courts risk undermining confidence in jury verdicts and diluting the "central premise of the Sixth Amendment trial right." *Id.* 

It "fundamentally undermines the principle of equal justice" to permit a juror to serve when that juror has expressed

racial biases that may affect their perceptions of the accused. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).

b. The court is independently obligated to remove jurors who clearly express their racial or ethnic bias.

Permitting "racial or ethnic prejudice to invade the jury system, at any stage of a criminal proceeding, is to damage 'both the fact and the perception' of the jury's role as 'a vital check against the wrongful exercise of power by the State." *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d at 711 (quoting inter alia, *Peña-Rodriguez*, 580 U.S. at 224).

Expressions of racial bias need not be blatant to be insidious and effective. *Id.* at 714 (citing *Monday*, 171 Wn.2d at 678). For example, a prosecutor's statements during voir dire impermissibly taint the trial if they "apparently" appeal to racial bias, even if the remarks are not an intentional appeal to such bias. *Id.* at 715.

In Zamora, defense counsel did not object when the prosecutor discussed the societal harms wrought by illegal

immigration with potential jurors. The prosecution contended this lack of objection signaled the defense was not troubled by the comments and perhaps wanted to take advantage of the information learned. *Id.* at 716. But this Court ruled it would "not defer to defense counsel's personal opinion regarding the prosecutor's remarks." *Id.* Defense counsel might not have strong feelings about jurors who express racial bias or they may also be engaging in racial discrimination, but the court must enforce the parameters of a fair trial. *Id.* 

This Court declared, "Defense counsel cannot waive his client's constitutional right to a fair trial, and we will not skirt the responsibility of upholding a defendant's constitutional right because defense counsel failed to appreciate the impropriety of the prosecutor's conduct." *Id.* at 717.

"Therefore, it is incumbent on the trial courts to protect a defendant's right to a fair trial, even when defense counsel fails to object to conduct that is flagrantly or apparently intentionally appealing to racial or ethnic bias." *Id.* 

These principles apply equally to the circumstances in this case. Juror 16 said he strongly disliked illegal immigrants. RP 507, 509. He said he had already judged the defendants to a degree based on their appearances, as counsel conceded they were Mexican. RP 507-08. The juror said he would be hard for him to get past his perceptions. RP 508-09. When asked what it would take to convince him not to be impacted by his perception of the defendants as illegal immigrants, he said was "ready to listen," but did not say what he would listen to and whether this meant he could be fair and unbiased. RP 509-10.

The Court of Appeals ruled the trial court did not definitively know whether Mr. Gutierrez was in the United States illegally, and could infer the defense counsel did not challenge Juror 16 because counsel planned to introduce evidence of Mr. Gutierrez's legal status. Slip op. at 21.

This speculation is puzzling and wrongheaded. This conversation arose in the context of telling the juror that citizenship was not a relevant part of the case. RP 507-08. Yet

even knowing this, Juror 16 said, "I think it will bother me" to serve in a case where a defendant was Mexican, without knowing his immigration status, because of his strong dislike of illegal immigration. RP 507.

Juror 16 expressed a troubling and intractable animus toward people who have not arrived in the United States with legal documentation. RP 507, 509. The Court of Appeals disregarded the problematic nature of seating a juror who admitted to a bias against people who appear to be non-citizens based on their race and ethnicity and who admitted he had already presumed the defendants were not here legally. RP 510.

A fair trial before a jury that is "unbiased and unprejudiced" is a cornerstone of the justice system. *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 658, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019). The Court of Appeals decision impermissibly condones counsel taking advantage of juror biases. Any juror who cannot try a case impartially for any reason should be removed. RCW 4.44.170.

This Court should grant review due to the court's failure to protect Mr. Gutierrez's right to a fundamentally fair trial.

At a minimum, this Court should enforce a test similar to that applied in *Zamora*. 199 Wn.2d at 718-19. When it is objectively apparent that a juror harbors racial biases, that juror should be excused unless the court affirmatively ascertains that the juror will not be impacted by racial animus. *Id*. No party should endorse or seek out jurors who will use their racial or ethnic biases to render a decision.

- 2. The Court of Appeals diluted the essential elements of aggravated murder based on accomplice liability as mandated by this Court.
  - a. Aggravated first degree murder requires proof a person was a major participant in the acts causing death.

Aggravated first degree murder requires the prosecution prove the accused person committed premediated intentional murder in the first degree as well as a statutory aggravating circumstance, and a conviction must rest on the person's own

conduct. RCW 10.95.020; see State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 501-02, 505, 14 P.3d 713 (2000).

Accomplice liability alone does not suffice. "Merely satisfying the minimal requirements of the accomplice liability statute" does not authorize a court to impose the mandatory life sentence that follows any conviction for aggravated first degree murder. *Id.* Instead, the jury must find the accused person was a major participant in the acts causing death and was personally involved in the aggravating circumstance. *Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d at 502; *see also In re Howerton*, 109 Wn. App. 494, 501, 36 P.3d 565 (2001) (aggravated murder "must depend on the defendant's own conduct").

The burden of proving the essential elements of a crime unequivocally rests upon the prosecution. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this constitutional threshold and does not adhere to this Court's precedent.

b. The Court of Appeals ruled Mr. Gutierrez was liable as an accomplice based on conduct separate from the acts causing the person's death, contrary to this Court's precedent.

The Court of Appeals decision disregards the circumstances of the case. Mr. Gutierrez's role in the initial threats made to Mr. Sosa and Mr. Cano Barrientos by the side of the road did not involve any injury to anyone. Mr. Gutierrez was not involved in the homicidal acts. *Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d at 505. He was not present when these acts occurred and no one claimed he was an active participant at this time. Even the prosecution recognized this during closing argument. RP 2720, 2728, 2730.

There was no evidence of any plan to kill Mr. Sosa. All witnesses testified the plan was to scare Mr. Sosa or perhaps beat him up. RP 916, 981, 2105. And even there had had been such a plan, the acts that caused Mr. Sosa's death arose in a spontaneous struggle over a gun that was initiated by Mr. Sosa, and joined by Mr. Cano Barrientos.

The Court of Appeals erroneously construed "major participation in the acts causing death" as meaning the same thing as accomplice liability. Its decision is contrary to *Roberts* and *Howerton*. Mr. Gutierrez was convicted of aggravating first degree based on his acts at the outset of the incident, not because he played any active role in causing Mr. Sosa's death as case law demands. This Court should grant review.

# 3. The court's instructions diluted the elements of accomplice liability.

a. The court's instructions may not comment on the evidence or compel jurors to convict by creating inaccurate presumptions.

The court's instructions must correctly state the relevant law. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Instructions that do not correctly inform the jury of the applicable law or mislead the jury do not satisfy the constitutional demands of a fair trial. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (citing *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 7, 109 P.3d 415 (2005)). If the instructions are

inaccurate or ambiguous, "the reviewing court cannot presume the jury followed the constitutional rather than the unconstitutional interpretation." *State v. McLoyd*, 87 Wn. App. 66, 71, 87 P.2d 1255 (1997) (citing *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 526, 99 S. Ct. 2450, 61 L. Ed. 2d 39 (1979)).

The court may not interfere with the jury's role as fact-finder by signaling certain facts have been proven or by giving instructions that jurors would reasonably construe as directing them to reach a certain decision. *Sandstrom*, 442 U.S. at 523; U.S. Const. amends. VI; XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, art. IV, § 16.

The parameters of accomplice liability are "subtle" but these subtleties are critical to establish culpability. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 374, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). The prosecution must prove the accused person "*actually* knew that he was promoting or facilitating" another person in committing the specific offense charged, not that he "should have known." *Id.* (emphasis in original). An accomplice does not need

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