FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2024 3:18 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102892-0 Court of Appeals No. 37557-9-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

RESPONDENT,

v.

FERNANDO MARCOS GUTIERREZ,

PETITIONER.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN J. McCRAE Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #43087

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

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

d. Application to Current Case.

In the current case the conversation with Juror 16

concludes:

Counsel asked, "is there anything we could . .. say to you, even with the judge's instruction," to tell you "that shouldn't be a factor?" RP 510. Juror 16 said, "I'm ready to listen." *Id.* Counsel said, "You're ready to listen. Have you judged him already?" *Id.* Juror 16 said, "To some degree, yes." *Id.* Counsel said, "To some degree, even though you don't know his status." *Id.* Juror 16 said, "Like I said, I'm willing to

listen." Id.

These comments are very similar to those in *Lawler* and *Phillips*, where the juror stated he had a bias, and that it might be difficult to put aside, but he would try. This ambiguous statement of bias has repeatedly not been held to be sufficient to override the defendant's interests in controlling his own defense sufficient to mandate sua sponte dismissal of a juror. It is not sufficient here.

It was also clear both the Court and counsel were alert to the possibility of bias. Mr. Gutierrez's counsel was active in

dismissing jurors for cause. Counsel agreed to dismiss Juror 41. RP 654. He also asked to dismiss Jurors 10 and 45 because they thought Mr. Tapia looked scary. RP 658-60. Jurors 24 and 42 were dismissed for cause based on Mr. Gutierrez's motion because she would have emotional difficulties handling the case. RP 662. The judge brought up a juror who concerned him. RP 666. It was clear the defense was not hesitant to request jurors be dismissed for cause when it suited them.

e. Any Error Was Invited.

In addition, it was clear the defense had a plan to exploit any bias against undocumented immigrants. Under the doctrine of invited error, a party may not materially contribute to an erroneous application of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *Matter of Dependency of A.L.K.*, 196 Wash.2d 686, 694–95, 478 P.3d 63, 67 (2020) (citing *In re Det. of Rushton*, 190 Wash. App. 358, 372, 359 P.3d 935 (2015)). To determine whether the doctrine applies, the court considers "whether the defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefited from it." In re Pers. Restraint of Coggin, 182 Wash.2d 115, 119, 340 P.3d 810 (2014) (plurality opinion); see also In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson, 141 Wash.2d 712, 724, 10 P.3d 380 (2000) (requiring lenowing and voluntary action for invited error).

Here it is clear that both defendants intended to benefit from any anti undocumented immigrant bias. Both of the State's most important witnesses admitted to being undocumented immigrants. All of the other civilian witnesses were Spanish speaking, and many worked at a business that hired undocumented immigrants. Mr. Gutierrez's counsel, under the guise of asking about a U-visa, simply asked whether the surviving victim was undocumented, without even bothering to ask about the U-visa until the State objected. Mr. Tapia attempted to introduce false information that he was born in Texas into the record, almost succeeded, and was only frustrated when the State brought in evidence outside the presence of the jury that he was subject to deportation. Bias

against undocumented immigrants was more likely to work against the State in this case, especially if Mr. Tapia had succeeded in introducing his false evidence of his place of birth. Even if there was an error, the defendants contributed to it and benefited from it, they cannot now complain.

This case is completely unlike State v. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d 698, 701, 512 P.3d 512, 515 (2022). In Zamora the defense attorney simply sat silent while the prosecutor made inflammatory statements about immigration, which was simply not an issue in the case. Here the defense actually raised immigration as an issue, and attempted to exploit a bias, largely over the State's objections. There were not the inflammatory statements made by the prosecutor as in the Zamora case. There simply is not flagrant or ill-intentioned language by the prosecutor. There is also a question as to the type of bias presented here. In Zamora the Court equated bias against immigrants to racial or ethnic bias. Here the juror in question was a Ukrainian immigrant, and specifically limited his

concerns not to race, but to failure to follow the difficult path he had to follow. This brings into question whether this displayed racial animus at all, or was simply a concern about people following the law. Nor is it reasonable that defense counsel should be able to try to exploit biases, and then obtain a reversal based on those very biases. Such a rule would invite significant moral hazard, and further victimize minorities who fall victim to crimes. This is not significant issue of law that needs to be addressed by the Supreme Court, and Mr. Gutierrez does not identify any cases the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with. RAP 13.4

The Court of Appeals decision is not contrary to State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 505, 14 P.3d 713, 733 (2000) or In re Howerton, 109 Wn. App. 494, 500, 36 P.3d 565, 568 (2001).

As the Courts noted in both of these cases, the legislature expressly considered that someone who commits aggravated murder may not be present for the actual killing. This does not excuse the crime when the person was still a major participant in the crime.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, there was ample evidence that Mr. Gutierrez was involved in the kidnapping, and had his gun pointed at the victims when the premeditated intent to kill was formed. He helped move them into the car where they were being taken to a new site to be executed. The fact that Mr. Gutierrez was in a car following when the victims tried to defend themselves does not mitigate his conduct. In the light most favorable to the State, as the evidence must be interpreted here, there is ample evidence that Mr. Gutierrez was a major participant in the crime. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

4. The Court's accomplice liability instruction accurately tracked the WPIC, and accurately stated the law.

Mr. Gutierrez again misstates the law, the holding of State v. Roberts and the language of the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions, this time in regards to accomplice liability.

As he notes, accomplice liability requires intent to commit "the" crime, not "a" crime. However, as *Roberts* and many other cases hold, "the crime" means the general crime, not the specific degree of the crime.

> While an accomplice must have known about the specific crime the principal was going to commit, the defendant 'need not have specific knowledge of every element of the crime committed by the principal, provided he has general knowledge of that specific crime.' State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 512; see State v. Sweet, 138 Wn.2d 466, 980 P.2d 1223 (1999); State v. Johnston, 100 Wn. App. 126, 996 P.2d 629 (2000). The accomplice must know that he or she was facilitating the generic crime. The accomplice need not know that the principal had the culpability required for any particular degree of that crime. For example, a person can be convicted as an accomplice to first-degree assault even if the person only lenew that he was facilitating a misdemeanor assault. Sarausad v. State, 109 Wn. App. 824, 836, 39 P.3d 308 (2001), affirmed, Waddington v. Sarausad, 555 U.S. 179, 129 S. Ct. 823, 172 L. Ed. 2d 532 (2009).

Comment to WPIC 10.01. The WPIC comment provides suggested language for dealing with this issue in regards to assault. "If the defendant is an accomplice in the crime of assault in any degree, he is deemed to be an accomplice in any other degree of assault." *Id.* "[A]n accused who is charged with assault in the first or second degree as an accomplice must have known generally that he was facilitating an assault, even if only a simple, misdemeanor level assault, and need not have known that the principal was going to use deadly force or that the principal was armed." *State v. McChristian*, 158 Wn. App. 392, 401, 241 P.3d 468 (2010). The additional paragraphs added to the jury instructions in accordance with the WPIC comment simply apply these well-founded principles to murder and kidnapping.

This instruction does not comment on the evidence. Instead, it clarifies the legal scope of accomplice liability. The scope of appellate liability is a legal, not factual, issue. Because there was no comment on the evidence, and no objection was made, this issue is meritless and not preserved.

The comments to WPIC 10.50 states: "The instruction could be supplemented with a new third paragraph, stating: "If

the defendant is an accomplice in the crime of assault in any degree, he is deemed to be an accomplice in any other degree of assault."" Citing *Sarausad v. State*, 109 Wn. App. 824, 836, 39 P.3d 308 (2001), affirmed, *Waddington v. Sarausad*, 555 U.S. 179, 129 S. Ct. 823, 172 L. Ed. 2d 532 (2009). That is exactly what the Court's jury instructions said.

The prosecutor said:

Once you're in that mode and you're working together to commit an assault, any other assault somebody commits that you're helping them with, you're guilty of that assault. So for example, if you and your buddy go up to fight somebody and go up to hit somebody and you hit them and your buddy pulls out a gun and shoots them, you're responsible for that shooting, because you committed a lower level of assault, and your buddy raised it up to the next level. Any level of assault, you're guilty of whatever assault your accomplice commits. The same kind of rules apply for kidnapping and murder. RP 2721-22

Here Mr. Gutierrez misstates the prosecutor's argument. The prosecutor only argued that a lower-level assault gives rise to liability for a higher level assault, consistent with the case law and WPIC. He did not argue that an assault gives rise to liability for a murder or kidnapping. The prosecutor only asked for the instruction as it relates to assault. While the Court is required to take the facts in the light most favorable to the State in determining sufficiency of evidence, the jury is not so bound. The jury could have found that Mr. Gutierrez only loowingly participated in an assault in the second degree on Mr. Cano Barrientos, that was elevated to an assault in the first degree by Mr. Tapia and Mr. Albarran Varona. Thus, the State's argument was appropriate to the facts of the case. It was Mr. Gutierrez's attorney who added the instructions regarding the kidnapping and murder, not the State. Thus Mr. Gutierrez cannot complain about those.

In any event any error was harmless. The jury necessary found that Mr. Gutierrez was a major participant in the murder and kidnapping, and intended to inflict great bodily harm. Thus, any concerns about concluding the lesser crime gave rise to liability for the greater are unfounded. The discussion was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned as to overcome the lack of objection by the defense.

5. The trial court did not error in allowing testimony of a former defense attorney to rebut an allegation of fabrication of testimony. There was no prior consistent statement offered or objected to.

The petitioner misconstrues the record and reason for calling Albarran Varona's defense attorney. It had nothing to do with a prior consistent statement. This case is somewhat unusual. The State made an agreement with its cooperating witness based on a charge in another case. Under normal circumstances a defendant is arrested, the State provides discovery to his defense attorney, the parties work out an agreement, and the cooperating witness gives information and testifies. One of the ways defense attorneys attack the credibility of these witnesses is to point out the State has given the cooperating witnesses' attorney everything it lenows, and presumably the attorney shares the discovery with his client so the witness can tailor his testimony to match the State's

evidence. Indeed, Mr. Tapia's defense attorney tried this tactic in this case. RP 945-49. In this case the State had a means to rebut this argument and control the discovery provided to the cooperating witness. Because the agreement was made on the other case, the State did not provide discovery on this case to cooperating witness Albarran Varona's attorney until after he had told the State his story.

The defense also attacked Mr. Albarran Varona's veracity by asking about fake identification cards and an instance of lying to the police. RP 968-69. To rebut an allegation of fabrication based on discovery provided the State called Mr. Albarran Varona's defense attorney, Smitty Hagopian. The State had placed Mr. Hagopian on the witness list in January of 2019, State's list of witnesses, State's first supplemental clerk's papers, approximately eight months before he started with the Douglas County Prosecutor's Office.

The appellant now hangs this issue on two grounds that were not objected to during trial. First Mr. Gutierrez makes an

issue of Mr. Hagopian's employment at the time of trial. While the State did bring up the fact that Mr. Hagopian had been a prosecutor for a month prior to trial as part of his introduction, it was clear he was testifying in his role as Mr. Albarran Varona's former defense attorney. Defense counsel never objected to identifying his current employment. As a matter of fact they joked with Mr. Hagopian about it. RP 1015. If they had objected it would have been an easy issue to avoid. Mr. Gutierrez makes no showing that having a current prosecutor testify about his former role as a defense attorney is manifest constitutional error, thus the Court should not review this issue under RAP 2.5.

In addition, the State did not call Mr. Hagopian to confirm a prior consistent statement. It called Mr. Hagopian to establish that Albarran Varona did not get information about what happened the night of the murder from the State via his attorney. Nor did the Court rule it was a prior consistent statement. "And this is a factual dispute as to when Albarran

Varona had information that the state had gathered, compared to when he gave his free talk. And that goes, in my opinion, directly to the credibility issue." RP 493. Mr. Albarran Varona's story of what happened during those early morning hours closely matched Mr. Barrientos' version of events, but from a different perspective. It was logical for defense counsel to argue that Mr. Albarran Varona tailored his testimony based on what his defense attorney told him about what he learned from discovery. It was equally logical for the State to rebut this argument by establishing that Mr. Hagopian did not have Mr. Barrientos' statement to relay to Albarran Varona before he told his story to the State.

Because the State did not call Mr. Hagopian to provide a prior consistent statement,³ appellant's argument about prior consistent statement completely misses the point. In any event,

³ There is one question that could arguably refer to a prior consistent statement, RP 1013, but it was not objected to, and was not the point of Mr. Hagopian's testimony. It was both unobjected to and harmless.

defense counsel did not object on hearsay grounds. RP 490 (objection based on relevance, not hearsay). "An objection which does not specify the particular ground upon which it is based is insufficient to preserve the question for appellate review." *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182, 1189 (1985). Hearsay objections are rule based, not constitutional, and thus the exception for manifest constitutional error in RAP 2.5 does not apply. This argument fails both for lack of issue preservation and on the merits.

E. CONCLUSION

Mr. Gutierrez's petition is based on mischaracterizations and selective reading of the record, as well as some misstatements of the law. He does not identify any significant conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any other Court of Appeals or Supreme Court decision. Nor does he identify any significant question of law or public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The juror in question did not give an indication of absolute bias, and any bias was one the defense intended to exploit. The jury reasonably found that Mr. Gutierrez was a major participant in the crime, and neither the jury instructions nor the prosecutor misstated the law of accomplice liability. Finally, there was no prior consistent statement, and it was appropriate to call the cooperating witness' defense attorney in order to rebut an implied fabrication of evidence. The petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4761 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.